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On  Novenber 6, 1992, a five count indictnent was returned
agai nst def endant - appel |l ant, Dennis Murray, for his alleged role in
an illegal firearns transfer. The basis of the indictnent was that
Murray, a previously convicted felon, participated with, and
facilitated A enn Reid in the sale of a sawed-off shotgun and a . 38
cali ber revolver to acting, undercover agents for the Bureau of
Al cohol , Tobacco, and Firearns. After trial by jury, defendant
was found guilty on four charges. W affirmMirray's conviction on
Counts II, Ill, and IV. Mirray's conviction on Count Vis reversed

for insufficient evidence.

1 Seni or Judge of the Western District of Louisiana,
sitting by designation.



Backgr ound

In April of 1990, Dennis Murray went to work for denn Reid at
Reid's business, "Fat Charlie's Buy and Sell". Wile at the pawn
shop, Murray perforned a variety of tasks including, receiving
broken appliances, repairing appliances, and noving heavy itens
around the store. \Wenever Reid was away fromthe store, Mirray
was often left in charge of the business.

Rei d' s busi ness enconpassed nore than just buying and selling
appliances. He was also a licensed gun deal er; and consequently,
guns were kept in the shop under | ock and key. Due to his previous
felony conviction, Murray was not allowed to handl e the guns.

The Bureau of Al cohol, Tobacco, and Firearns ("ATF"') began an
i nvestigation of "Fat Charlie's" when Thomas WAl ker, an ex-police
officer, notified themof possible illegal gun transactions. Under
the auspices of the ATF, Wil ker secured the assistance of Jerry
At ki nson, a fornmer enployee at "Fat Charlie's". They agreed to
participate in an undercover ATF investigation to purchase ill egal
firearnms from d enn Rei d.

On April 20, 1990, Atkinson (in a recorded conversation)
t el ephoned Rei d, and arranged for the purchase of an unregi stered,
sawed- of f shot gun, plus other handguns. Reid agreed to supply the
weapons, despite his know edge that Atkinson was a previously
convi cted fel on, and coul d not purchase firearns through | egitinate
channel s.

On April 26, 1990, Reid asked Murray to take a ride with him
in his van. Reid placed a rectangul ar styrofoam box between the

front seats. Fromone end of the styrofoam the stock of a shotgun



was clearly visible. The barrel of the gun extended from the
opposite side. Despite the obvious nature of the box's contents,
Murray contends that he never suspected that the styrofoam
contained a firearm

Reid and Murray drove to Atkinson's house, where Reid and
At ki nson were to consunmate the firearmtransaction. Unbeknownst
to Reid and Murray, Atkinson had a hidden m crophone taped to his
body. Special Agent Wight of the ATF hid in another room of the
house, nonitoring and recordi ng the proceedi ngs. Murray carried
the styrofoam package inside the house, and waved it about
exclaimng, "Smle, |'mtaking your picture." Subsequently, Mirray
handed the styrof oamencased shotgun to Atkinson, who turned it
over to Wal ker. The styrof oam package was opened, and the shot gun
exposed to view Reid also offered to sell a .38 caliber revol ver
to the ATF informants, which they agreed to buy.

The conversati on between the nmen focused upon the purchase of
the firearns and the characteristics of the weapons. Mirray took
an active role in the dialogue. Instead of indicating surprise or
apprehensi on upon |earning the true purpose of the visit, Mirray
| aughed, joked, and contributed as if he knew all al ong what had
been planned. Wen Atkinson asked Rei d whet her the shotgun woul d
fire, Murray responded, "Na. That son of a bitch wll shoot."
Wien Reid was asked whether he had any shells for the shotgun,
Murray volunteered, "I think you do have, didn't sonebody cone by
there and sell you a bunch of them the other day?...D d you buy

them from that boy, he had a box full of them"™ After the



di scussi on ended, Reid was paid. The weapons were |left with the
i nf or mant s.

Dennis J. Murray was charged with a five count indictnent.
The charges i ncl uded: ) conspiracy with Gdenn Reid to violate
federal firearnms law, 18 U S C § 371; 1) possession by a
previously convicted felon of a firearmwhi ch had been transported
ininterstate commerce - 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(g)(1); Il1) aiding and
abetting Reid in the transfer of an unregistered firearm - 26
US C 88 861(c) and 5871; | V) possession of an unregistered
firearm - 26 US. C 88 5861(d) and 5871; and V) aiding and
abetting Reid in the sale of a firearmto a convicted felon - 18
U S.C § 922(d)(1).

Murray was tried by jury on Septenber 9, 1991. At the close
of the governnent's case, the court granted an acquittal on Count
|, and as to the sale of a .357 Magnumlisted in Count V, due to
i nsufficient evidence. The remaining charges went to the jury.
Murray was found guilty on Counts II, Ill, IV and V. Appellant was
sentenced to thirty nonths inprisonnent on each count to run
concurrently, plus two years supervisory release. Mirray appeals
the sufficiency of the evidence, and questions the adm ssion of
Reid' s guilty plea. W consider these issues in turn.

Suf ficiency of the Evidence

Counts [1-1V
The appropriate standard of review is whether, "any rational
trier of fact could have found the essential elenents beyond a

reasonabl e doubt." United States v. Wbster, 960 F.2d 1301 (5th




Cr.), cert. denied, in Nelson v. United States, 113 S. C. 355

(1992); Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S. 307, 319 (1979). A

conviction challenged for insufficiency of the evidence nust be
considered in the light nost favorable to the prosecution. United

States v. Hopkins, 916 F.2d 207 (5th Gr. 1990); Jackson v.

Virginia, 443 U.S. at 318-319.

The basis for Mirray's appeal on Counts IIl1-1V is that he
remai ned unaware of the contents of the styrofoam package unti
after the transfer. Thus, he argues that he could not possibly
have know ngly possessed the firearm as required to sustain the

conviction. United States v. Parker, 566 F.2d 1304, 1306 (5th Cr

1978), cert. denied, 435 U S. 956 (1978).

The evi dence reveal s that the styrof oam encased shot gun rested
under the counter at "Fat Charlie's" for a considerable tine; and
that Murray picked up the package frominside the van, and carried
it to the transfer site. Then, too, Mirray waved the shotgun
around, and pointed it at the undercover agents exclaimng, "Smle,
| want to take your picture."” Qoviously, either Miurray thought he
was carrying a canera, or he was naking a joke, knowng full well
that the styrofoam contained a shotgun. W reject defendant's
ar gunent that the evidence did not suffice to prove beyond a
reasonabl e doubt that he knowi ngly possessed the firearm
Count V

Murray was convicted of aiding and abetting co-defendant,

Reid, in the sale of firearnms to a previously convicted felon



(Atkinson) in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(d)(1).2 The statute
requi res that the perpetrator either know or have reasonabl e cause
to believe that the transferee was a previously convicted fel on.
Murray argues that the evidence is insufficient to establish beyond
a reasonabl e doubt that he knew that Atkinson had been previously
convi ct ed. The governnent inplicitly argues that even if the
evidence is insufficient to conclude that Miurray personally knew
that Atkinson was a convicted felon, it is undisputed that co-
def endant, Reid, was aware of Atkinson's status, and this know edge
was attributable to Murray as an ai der and abettor.

The only evidence presented by the governnent that Murray had
personal know edge of Atkinson's prior conviction was testinony by
At ki nson and Bobby WIllianms (a friend of Genn Reid s). Atkinson
stated that Reid used to joke about Atkinson's conviction "all the
time" in front of Murray and ot her enployees. But, there was no
proof offered that Murray was definitely present on any specific
occasion, or that he was within earshot of the conversations
Wllianms nerely testified that it was conmon know edge around " Fat

Charlie's" that Atkinson was a previously convicted felon. On no

2 18 U.S.C 8§ 922(d) (1) provides in pertinent part:
It shall be unlawful for any person to sel
or otherw se di spose of any firearm or
anmunition to any person know ng or having
reasonabl e cause to believe that such person
is

(1) under indictnent for, or has
been convicted in any court, of a
crime puni shabl e by inprisonnent
for a term exceedi ng one year.
(enphasi s added).



occasion prior to the transfer had Murray actually net or talked
wth Atkinson. Atkinson's prior conviction was not discussed or
referred to at thetime of the firearns sale. No witness testified
that Murray was present, or that Mirray definitely overheard
references to Atkinson's prior crimnal history. W find that the
evidence was not sufficient to support the conclusion that
def endant was aware of Atkinson's record.

Havi ng deci ded that the evidence was insufficient to establish
that Murray was personal ly aware of Atkinson's conviction, our next
focus is to consider whether a principal nmay supply the requisite
crimnal know edge or intent which is necessary to satisfy a
convi ction agai nst an aider and abettor.

In order to sustain a conviction for aiding and abetting, the
gover nnent must denonstrate that the defendant: 1) associated with
a crimnal venture; 2) participated in the venture; and 3) sought

by action to nmake the venture succeed. United States v.

Martiarena, 955 F. 2d 363, 366 (5th G r. 1992). "Association" neans
that the defendant shared in the crimnal intent of the principal.
"Participation” nmeans that the defendant engaged in sone
affirmative conduct designed to aid the venture. Mere presence and

association are insufficient to sustain a conviction for aiding and

abetting. 1d. The essence of aiding and abetting is a "comunity
of unlawful intent" Dbetween the aider and abettor and the
principal . United States v. Pena, 949 F.2d 751, 755 (5th Cr.

1991). Although the aider and abettor need not know t he neans by

which the crime will be carried out, he nust share in the requisite



i ntent. United States v. Wstbo, 746 F.2d 1022, 1025 (5th Gr.

1984) .

Under 18 U. S.C. 8§ 922 (d)(1), it is the purchaser's status as a
fel on which makes the activity crimnal. |If the aider and abettor
does not know this fact, it is difficult to say that he shared in
the crimnal intent of the principal.

There is no doubt that Mirray was in possession of an
unregi stered firearm But, since 28 U . S.C. § 922(d)(1) is an added
offense with enhanced elenents, it was incunbent upon the
prosecutor to establish that Murray knew or had reasonabl e cause to

bel i eve that Atkinson was a convicted felon. United States v.

Longoria, 569 F.2d 422, 425 (5th Cr. 1978). The nental state of
the principal alone, is insufficient to inculpate an aider and

abettor. United States v. WIllians, No. 91-7284, 1993 W 46565

(5th Gr. Feb. 24, 1993); United States v. Beck, 615 F.2d 441

(5th Gr. 1980). Murray may very well have known that Reid was
going to transfer unregistered firearns, but he did not know (or at
|least there is precious little evidence to show) that Reid was
commtting the additional offense of selling firearns to a felon.
The very intent which makes this conduct crimnal is the know edge
or reasonable belief that the transferee is a previously convicted
fel on. W nmust conclude that the evidence adduced by the
governnment at trial, when viewed nost favorably to the verdict,
cannot support an inference of guilt as to Count V.

Prej udi ci al Reference

Murray's co-defendant, Reid, testified in favor of the



defense. Before tendering the witness, defense counsel elicited
the fact that Reid pled guilty to conspiring wwth Murray to viol ate
the federal firearnms laws. On cross-exanm nation, the prosecutor
ext ensi vel y questi oned Rei d concerni ng t he apparent i nconsi stenci es
between his testinony at Murray's trial, and the inplications of
his guilty plea to the conspiracy charge. Despite these references
to Reid' s guilty plea, the judge was never requested to, nor did he
sua sponte instruct the jury on the limted evidentiary purpose of
the co-defendant's guilty plea. Al so, defense counsel nade no
objection at trial. Accordingly, we review this issue under the
plain error standard, examning whether the error seriously

affected the defendant's substantial rights. United States v.

Leach, 918 F.2d 464, 467 (5th Cr. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S. C

2802 (1991) (citing United States v. Mattoni, 698 F.2d 691 (5th

Cir. 1983)). Plainerror is an error, "so obvious that our failure
to notice it would seriously affect the fairness, integrity, or
public reputation of [the] judicial proceedings and result in a

m scarriage of justice." United States v. Fortenberry, 914 F. 2d

671, 673 (5th Gir. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S. C. 1333 (1991)

(citing United States v. Gaves, 669 F.2d 964, 971 (5th GCr.
1982)).

In United States v. Bl ack, the Court enunerated the factors to

be consi dered when eval uating the i npact of a wwtness' guilty plea.
They include: 1) the presence or absence of a limting
instruction; 2) whether there was a proper evidentiary purpose for

i ntroduction of the guilty plea; 3) whether the plea was i nproperly



enphasi zed or used as substantive evidence of guilt; and 4) whet her
the introduction of the plea was invited by defense counsel.

United States v. Black, 685 F.2d 132, 135 (5th Gr.), cert. denied,

459 U. S. 1021 (1982); United States v. Leach, 918 F.2d at 467

United States v. Borchardt, 698 F.2d 697, 701 (5th Cr. 1983). Qur

analysis of the facts reveal that two of the four factors are
present. First, the prosecution clearly had a proper purpose in
enphasi zing the quilty plea. The plea served to inpeach the
W tness' testinony. Second, it was the defendant who originally
introduced the guilty plea. Mreover, the defendant di d not object
to the prosecutor's questioning, nor did he request a limting

instruction fromthe judge. See United States v. Cook, 461 F.2d

906 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 409 U S. 949 (1972) (found no plain

error when defendant's attorney introduced co-defendants' guilty

pl eas) and United States v. Bass, 562 F.2d 967 (5th Gr. 1977) (no

plain error where: governnent elicited guilty pleas, no objection
by defense, and defense enphasized guilty pleas on cross-
exam nation).

Simlarly, in United States v. Howard, the Court found no

pl ain error where the sane two Bl ack factors were present as in the

case sub | udi ce. United States v. Howard, 961 F.2d 1571 (5th Cr

1992) (unpublished opinion)3 The facts in Howard are virtually

3 According to local rule 47.5.3, unpublished opinions are
precedent, but may only be cited when: "1) it establishes the |aw
of the case, 2) is relied upon as a basis for res judicata or
coll ateral estoppel, or 3) involves related facts." Finding the
circunstances in Howard closely related to the facts herein, a
copy of the opinion is attached.
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identical to the facts in this case. Not only did defense counsel
not object to the testinony, he was the one who introduced it.

Howar d, supra. Murray suffered no plain error as a result of

Reid' s qguilty plea.

Concl usi on

W affirm Murray's conviction on Counts II, [Il, and IV.
Murray's conviction on Count V is reversed. A review of the pre-
sentencing report indicates that the reversed charge factored into
def endant's sentence cal cul ati on, and accordingly, resentencing is
necessary.

AFFI RVED | N PART; REVERSED | N PART; AND REMANDED
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